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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The Directors present the annual report and audited financial statements (which comprise the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of changes in equity,
consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes) for Fusion Bank Limited (the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Bank is a licensed bank authorised under the Banking Ordinance in Hong Kong. The principal activities of the Bank are to
provide banking services to its customers. The principal activities of the subsidiary are set out in note 11 of the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Although the global economy showed signs of slow recovery in 2024, multiple uncertainties — including escalating geopolitical
tensions, higher prices, and food and energy crises — continued to create a challenging external environment. Against this
backdrop, Mainland China implemented several rounds of economic stabilization measures, helping the economic situation to
regain a more solid footing. Hong Kong made excellent use of its advantages as an international financial center to successfully
capture opportunities created by closer Greater Bay Area (“GBA”) integration and drive new growth momentum underpinned
by technological innovations. In the face of such challenges and opportunities, under the leadership of the Board and
management team of the Bank, officially embarked on its strategic transformation journey in 2024 and the early outcomes of
this transformation have met the expectations of our stakeholders.

Overall Financial Performance

In 2024, our revenue generation capabilities continued to strengthen. Net interest income increased by 77.6% year-on-year to
HKS 74.84 million. Combined with effective cost control measures, we reduced our loss after income tax by 32.2% year-on-
year to HK$275 miillion. Additionally, at year-end, the Bank's total assets were up 41.4% year-on-year at HK$8.03 billion.

Commercial Banking

Our Commercial Banking business took notable strides forward. In an uncertain market for commerce and business, we actively
responded to calls from the Hong Kong Government and Hong Kong Monetary Authority to support small and medium-sized
enterprises (“SMEs”), innovating our service delivery processes and launching two innovative new products: the Business
Instalment Loan ‘365’ and Start-up Loan ‘162’. These new loan products fall under the HKMC Insurance Limited's SME Financing
Guarantee Scheme as an ‘80% Guarantee Product’ and ‘90% Guarantee Product’, providing additional financing options for
local small businesses and start-ups, and demonstrating our focus on providing support to this fundamental sector of Hong
Kong’s business community during challenging times. Despite intense market competition, our business development
capabilities enabled us to build a commercial loan balance of nearly HK$460 million in less than six months of operation.

We also partnered with WeBank, our strategic partner in the Mainland, to launch ‘WeBank X Fusion Bank GoGlobal Loan’,
leveraging the Shenzhen-Hong Kong cross-boundary data validation platform to provide unsecured loan solutions for Hong
Kong subsidiaries or affiliated enterprises of mainland SMEs. With its ability to effectively address the financing pain points
these companies face during expansion outside the Mainland, this product has been well received in the market. By year-end,
it had successfully helped over a dozen Hong Kong-based affiliates to obtain unsecured bank loans for the first time in Hong
Kong.

Personal Banking

Our Personal Banking business also recorded steady growth. We capitalised on market trends by rolling out attractive deposit
products and deploying targeted, diversified marketing campaigns — leveraging tools such as welcome rewards, referral
programmes, foreign exchange offers, and also collaborated with WeChat Pay. These actions resulted in the successful
expansion of our deposit base. At 2024 year-end, total deposit balances reached HK$6.97 billion, representing a 52.9% year-
on-year increase. On the personal lending side, we strengthened our collaboration with Tesla, providing Tesla car owners a
seamless loan application experience.

Technology Investment

Guided by our continuing commitment to fostering financial inclusion through the use of technology, we continued to invest
significantly in enhancing existing systems while also actively adopting new innovative fintech solutions to deliver higher-
quality banking services.

A key milestone in 2024 was the successful upgrade of our core banking system to support our new business positioning and
strategy. We completed the entire upgrade in just 10 months, setting a new benchmark for core banking system migration in
the Hong Kong banking industry. The flexibility and scalability of our new-generation distributed core banking system will
enable us to respond more rapidly to customer needs while reducing costs, establishing a solid foundation for our future
development.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Technology Investment {continued)

A further landmark moment was becoming the first Hong Kong digital bank to participate in the pilot launch of the Shenzhen-
Hong Kong cross-boundary data validation platform. The platform utilises blockchain and data coding for document
verification, eliminating the costs associated with verification for both banks and customers. This development not only
significantly shortens the loan approval cycle, but alse helps address financing challenges faced by Hong Kong affiliates of
mainland SMEs that lack property or other collateral on which to secure funds.

Community Engagement

As a local digital bank, we are committed to giving back to the community. We sponsored the 2024 WSF World Squash Team
Championships as its official banking partner. Qur colleagues attended to support the Hong Kong athletes, reflecting our
continued support for community and sports development and promoting a balanced lifestyle that values both personal health
and financial well-being.

Outlook

Hong Kong is the primary gateway for mainland enterprises seeking to expand overseas. As the trend for Chinese companies
going global continues to gain momentum, we will continue to dedicate resources to serving the Hong Kong affiliates of
mainland companies to meet their growing demands for financing, wealth management, foreign exchange, and payment
services. Simultaneously, we will continue to move forward, side-by-side, with local SMEs, providing them with banking services
that are fully aligned with their specific needs.

We firmly believe that artificial intelligence {“Al") will piay a crucial role in the future development of the banking industry.
Ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements and risk management principles, we will explore the feasibility of applying
Al to optimize internal operations, strengthen systems stability, better identify the potential needs of customers, and enhance
the customer experience, which will enable us to respond more precisely, more quickly and more effectively in serving the
needs of our customer.

“The road ahead may be long and winding, but perseverance leads to success.”

As we continue on our journey, we will seize opportunities in this highly fluid market environment, continue to drive sustainable
business development, and advance toward an even better year in 2025.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income on page 8.

No interim dividends were paid to the sole shareholder during the year. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
final dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Bank’s sharesissued are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements. There was no capital injection
in 2024, (The Bank received capital funding on 18 April 2023, 7 August 2023 and 28 September 2023 from its shareholder
amounting HK$800,000,000.)

DIRECTORS

The following Directors held office during the year and up to the date of this report:

Executive directors:
SHU, Jared

Non-executive directors:

PU, Hai Tao - Chairman {appointed on 17 April 2024)
TANG, Ling

CHENG, Yun Ming Matthew {resigned on 19 April 2024)
GU, Xuan {resigned on 19 April 2024)
BAQ, Haijie {resigned on 19 April 2024)
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent non-executive directors:
XIAQ, Suining

CHAN, Sheung Wai Charles

FOK, Kai Kong Kenneth

There were no disagreements between the resigned directors and the Board, and there were nothing relating to the affairs of
the Bank needed to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Bank.

There being no provision to the Bank's Articles of Association in connection with the retirement of directors by rotation, all
other directors continue in office for the following year.

DIRECTORS' MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE BANK'S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the Bank, its holding companies or any subsidiaries of its
holding companies were a party and in which a Director of the Bank had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Bank
were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the year, Jared Shu, director of the Bank, was granted listed shares of Tencent Holdings Limited.
Except the above, at no time during the year was the Bank, its holding companies or any subsidiaries of its holding companies

a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Bank to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Bank or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Bank provide that a Director or former Director of the Bank may be indemnified out of the
Bank's assets against any liability incurred by the Director to a person other than the Bank in connection with any negligence,
default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the Bank.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Bank.

On behalf of the Board

%;&Aj

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXEUCTIVE DIRECTOR
25 April 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Member of Fusion Bank Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Fusion Bank Limited (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 8 to 61, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the vear then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by
the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional

Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd., 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Other Information

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the in the report of directors and supplementary financial information,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identity during our audit.

P.‘Cewa{—e(\no\xse@o 4=
S

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 April 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Notes HKS$’000 HKS'000
Interest income 296,392 153,567
Interest expense {221,552) (111,431)
Net interest income 5 74,840 42,136
Net fee and commission expenses 6 (2,101) {4,923)
Other income 7 1,023 1,218
QOperating expenses 8 (342,558) {413,334}
Operating losses before impairment losses (268,796) {374,903)
Net charge of impairment allowance g {6,108) {30,779)
Loss before income tax (274,904) {405,682)
Income tax 10 (372) {28)
Loss after income tax {275,276) (405,720)
Other comprehensive income
Item that maybe reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Movement in translation reserve
Changes in the fair value of financial investments measured at falr value (362) -
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), net of tax
Exchange differences on translation {274) (136}
Total comprehensive income for the year (275,912) {405,856)

The notes on pages 12 to 61 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Year Ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Notes HKS'000 HKS'000
ASSETS
Balances with central bank 12 236,024 99,520
Placements with and advances to banks 13 2,176,862 1,725,242
Investments in debt securities at amortised cost 14 753,695 3,104,353
Financial investments measured at FVOCI 15 3,807,499 -
Loans and advances 16 987,224 660,074
Prepaid expenses 11,986 10,589
Other deposits and receivables 17 18,401 12,097
Right-of-use assets 19 5,681 16,135
Property, plant and equipment 20 4,545 25,195
Intangible assets 21 23,060 22,796
Deferred tax asset 22 1,056 1,504
TOTAL ASSETS 8,026,033 5,677,505
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 23 6,966,060 4,555,308
Deposits from a related party 31 - 16,698
Accruals and other payables 24 307,282 87,200
Lease liabilities 19 5,628 17,424
TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,278,970 4,676,630
EQUITY
Share capital 25 2,800,001 2,800,001
Accumulated losses {2,073,557) {1,798,281)
Reserves 20,619 (845}
Equity attributable to owners of the Bank 747,063 1,000,875
Total equity 747,063 1,000,875
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 8,026,033 5,677,505

The notes on pages 12 to 61 are an integral part of these consolidated financlal statements.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authoerised for issue on 25 April 2025:

Signed on behaif of the Board

CE s DL

4—1@%

PU, HAI TAO
DIRECTOR

SHU, JARED
DIRECTOR

Annual Report 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year Ended 31 December 2024

Financial
assefts Share-based
Share Accumulated at FvOCl payment Exchange
capital losses reserve reserve reserve Total
Notes HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'Q00
At 1January 2023 2,000,001  (1,392,561) - - (709) 606,731
Capital contribution by
the member 25 300,000 - - - - 800,000
Currency translation
differences - - - - {136) {136)
Lass for the year - {405,720} - - - {405,720)
At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024 2,800,001  (1,798,281) - - (845) 1,000,875
Other comprehensive
income - - (362) - - (362)
Share-based payment - - - 22,100 - 22,100
Currency translation
differences - - - - (274) (274)
Loss for the year - (275,276) - - - (275,276)
At 31 December 2024 2,800,001 {2,073,557) (362) 22,100 {1,119} 747,063

The notes on pages 12 to 61 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes HKS'000 HKS$’'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 26(b} 1,626,837 166,726
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 20 - {1,677)
Purchase of intangible assets 21 (13,719} {3,699)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 20 - 162
Purchase of investment securities (18,408,288) {10,902,178)
Proceeds from maturity/sale of investment securities 17,154,874 9,395,296
Interest received 178,539 48,946
Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,088,594) (1,463,150}
Cash flows fram financing activities
Payments of principal of financial lease 19 {11,970) (12,893)
Interest elements of lease payments 19 {402) {667)
Capital contribution by the member 25 - 800,000
Net cash flows {used in)/generated from financing activities {12,372} 786,440
Net change in'cash and cash equivalents 525,871 (509,984)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 732,527 1,242,325
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 209 186
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 26(a) 1,258,607 732,527

The notes on pages 12 to 61 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended 31 December 2024

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Fusion Bank Limited (the “Bank”) is a limited liability company incorparated in Hong Kong. The address of its registered
office is 2/F, InnoCentre, 72 Tat Chee Avenue, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Bank is the operation of digital bank.

As at 31 December 2024, the immediate and ultimate parent companies of the Bank are Infinium Hong Kong Holdings
Limited and Tencent Heldings Limited {“Tencent Holdings”) respectively. Tencent Holdings is a conglomerate
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar {"HKD”), unless otherwise stated. These financial
statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors of the Group on 25 April 2025,

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance
Fusion Bank Limited and its subsidiary (together the “Group”) has prepared its annual consolidated financial

statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards {“HKFRS”) and interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants [“HKICPA”} and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622,

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical basis.

New standards and interpretations adopted during the year

The Group has applied the foliowing amendments or annual improvements for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2024:

. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current liabilities with covenants —
Amendments to HKAS 1;

. Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause — Hong Kong Interpretation 5 {Revised);

. Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to HKFRS 16; and

. Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7.

The amendments listed above did not have any material impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Amendments to standards and interpretation issued but not yet effective

The following amendment to standards and interpretation have not come into effect for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2024 and have not been early adopted by the Group in preparing the financial statements. This is not
expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Group.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,”

The HKICAP has issued HKFRS 18, the new standard on presentation and disclosure in financial statements, with a
focus on updates to the statement of profit or loss. The key new concepts introduced in HKFRS 18 relate to:

. the structure of the statement of profit or loss;

. required disclosures in the financial statements for certain profit or loss performance measures that are
reported outside an entity’s financial statements (that is, management-defined performance measures); and

. enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation which apply to the primary financial statements and

notes in general.

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1; many of the other existing principles in HKAS 1 are retained, with limited changes.
HKFRS 18 will not impact on the recognition or measurement of items in the financial statements, but it might change
what an entity in the current or future reports as its ‘operating profit or loss’.

HKFRS 18 will apply for reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions beginning on or after 1 January 2027
and also applies to comparative information. The Group has yet to determine the impact of the adoption and does
not intend to adopt this standard before its effective date.

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments - Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
{effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026)

The HKICPA issued targeted amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 to respond to recent questions arising in practice,
and to include new requirements not only for financial institutions but also for corporate entities. These amendments:

. clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of some financial assets and liabilities, with a new exception
for some financial liabilities settled through an electronic cash transfer system;

. clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financial asset meets the solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) criterion;

. add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual terms that can change cash flows (such as some

financial instruments with features linked to the achievement of enviranment, social and governance
targets); and
. update the disclosures for equity instruments designated at FVQCI.

The Group does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on its operations or financial statements.

The gaing concern assumpticn

The notes to the financial statements include the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital;
its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments; and its exposures to credit risk and
liquidity risk. Retaining sufficient liquidity and capital to withstand market pressures remains central to the Group's
strategy.

Taking the above factors into consideration, the Directors believe it is reasonable to assume that the Group will have
access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and financial statements.

Annual Report 2024 13



3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a.

Principles of consalidation

Subsidiaries are all entities {including structured entities} over which the group has control. The group
controls an entity where the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity,
Subsidiaries are fully consclidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements are measured and presented in HK dollars, the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. All currency amounts in the
financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand HK dollars.

{ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencles at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss,

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and all other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income
on a net basis within other Income.

{ii) Group companies

The results and financial paosition of foreign operations that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position,

. income and expenses far each statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates {unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions), and

. all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

14 FUSION BANK LIMITED



3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

C.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Classification and measurement
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or
through profit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's husiness model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Except for accounts receivable, at initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement on the Group’s business maodel for managing the asset and the contractual cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised cost: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are classified as and measured at amortised cost. A gain
or loss on a debt instrument measured at amortised cost which is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is recognised using the effective interest method.

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are classified as and
measured at FVOCI. Gains and losses on these financial assets are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment losses or reversals, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive Income is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “Finance costs” and impairment losses or reversals are
presented in “Net charge of impairment allowance”.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”): Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are classified as and measured at FVPL, A gain or loss on a debt instrument measured at fair value
through profit or loss which is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which it arises.

The Group reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities classified at amortised cost include deposits from customers, accruals and other payables
and deposits from related parties.

Financial liabilities are classified as being subsequently measured at amortised cost, except where they are
held for trading or are designated as measured at FVPL. They are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and are initially measured at fair value {see note 3(d)
below) and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Interest is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and comprehensive income in ‘Interest expense’ using the effective interest rate {“EIR”) method as described
below. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of a financial liability are deducted from
the fair value on initial recognition.

The EIR method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument {or a group of financial
instruments) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the expected life of the financial
instrument. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying
amount of the financial instrument. The EIR is established on initial recognition of the financial instrument.
The calculation of the EIR includes all fees and commissions paid or received, transaction costs, and discounts
or premiums that are an integral part of the EIR.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED}

d.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a Hability {i.e. the
“exit price”} in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market participant rather than an
entity-specific measure. Therefore, even when market assumptions are not readily available, assumptions
are set to reflect those that the Group believes market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date,

Where the Group manages a group of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of its net exposure
to either market risks or credit risk, the Group measures the fair value of that group of financial instruments
consistently with how market participants would price the net risk exposure at the measurement date.

In determining fair value, the Group uses various valuation approaches and establishes a hierarchy for inputs
used in measuring fair value that requires the most observable inputs be used when available Ohservable
inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability that were developed
based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Group. Unobservable inputs are inputs that
reflect assumptions the Group believes other market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability,
that are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.

The fair value hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the observability of inputs as follows, with

Level 1 being the highest and Level 3 being the lowest level;

. Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in an active market for identical assets or liabilities.
Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets that the Group has the ability to access for
identical assets or liabilities. Valuation adjustments, block discounts and discounts for equity-
specific restrictions that would not transfer to market participants are not applied to Level 1
instruments, Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in
an active market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant degree of judgement.

. Level 2 - Valuation techniques using observable inputs

Valuations based on one or more quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which afl
significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

. Level 3 - Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs

Valuations based on inputs that are unohservable and significant to the overall fair value
measurement.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

d.

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The availability of observable inputs can vary from product to product and is affected by a wide variety of
factors, including the type of product, whether the product is new and not yet established in the marketplace,
the liquidity of markets and other characteristics particular to the product. To the extent that valuation is
based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair
value requires more judgement.

Accordingly, the degree of judgement exercised by the Group in determining fair value is greatest for
instruments categorised in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Group considers prices and inputs that are current as of the measurement date, including during periods
of market dislocation. In periods of market dislocation, the observability of prices and inputs may be reduced
for many instruments. This condition could cause an instrument to be reclassified from Level 1 to Level 2 or
Level 2 to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy.
In such cases, the total fair amount is disclosed in the level appropriate for the lowest level input that is
significant to the total fair value of the asset or liability.

For assets and liabilities that are transferred between levels in the fair value hierarchy during the period, fair
values are ascribed as if the assets or liabilities had been transferred as of the beginning of the period.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

e.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.

If the asset has been transferred, and the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the asset, then the Group determines whether it has retained control of the asset.

'f the Group has retained control of the asset, it shall continue to recognise the financial asset to the extent
of its continuing invelvement in the financial asset. If the Group has not retained control of the asset, it
derecognises the asset and separately recognises any rights or obligation created or retained in the transfer,

The renegotiation or modification of the contractual cash flows of a financial instrument can lead to
derecognition where the modification is “substantial”, determined by qualitative assessment of whether the
revised contractual terms of a financial instrument, such as a loan, are significantly different from those of
the original financial instrument. In the event that the qualitative assessment is unclear, a quantitative 10%
cash flow test is performed.

Where modifications do not resultin derecognition of the financial instrument, the gross carrying amount of
the financial instrument is recalculated and a modification gain/{loss) is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and comprehensive income.

Upon derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the previous carrying amount and the sum
of any consideration received, together with the transfer of any cumulative gain/loss previously recognised
in equity, are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when the Group’s obligations are discharged or cancelled or when
they expire.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f.

Impairment of financial Instruments
Expected Credit Losses

The Group impairment requirements are based on a forward-looking ECL approach. This measurement of
ECL should reflect: (i) a probability-weighted outcome, (i) the time value of money and (iif) a reasonable and
supportable information model. The Group is required to recognise an allowance for either 12-month or
lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the exposure since
initial recognition.

Subject to classification and measurement, financial assets classified as amortised cost. At the time of
reporting, the Group's financial assets that in scope of HKFRS 8 impairment are mainly debt securities, retail
loan and interbank exposures.

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL for financial assets measured at amortised cost. ECL is
measured on an individual asset basis and the Group has no purchased or originated credit-impaired {“POCI”)
financial assets.

Presentation of ECL

ECLis recognised in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income within ‘Expected Credit Loss’.
ECL on financial assets measured at amortised cost are presented as an ECL allowance. The allowance reduces
the net carrying amount on the face of the statement of financial position. Where the financial asset is
measured at FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised as an accumulated impairment amount in other
comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset on the statement of
financial position.

Measurement of ECL

For financial assets, ECL are the present value of cash shortfalls {i.e. the difference between contractual and
expected cash flows) over the expected life of the financial instrument, discounted at the asset’s EIR.

Where a financial asset is credit-impaired at the reporting date, the ECL is measured as the difference
between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the
original EIR.

Expected credit loss is determined under three stages:

. Stage 1 applies when there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 12-month
ECL is required for assets classified in stage 1.

. Stage 2 applies when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred on an individual or collective
basis since initial recognition, with no objective evidence of credit event. Lifetime ECL calculation is
required for assets classified in stage 2.

. Stage 3 applies when there is objective evidence of credit impairment. Lifetime ECL calculation is
required for assets classified in stage 3.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f.

Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECL {Continued)

Significant credit deterioration criteria are used for assessing whether there are significant increases in credit
risk of the exposures and thus classify them into different stages. The criteria are primarily set based on the
key requirements stipulated under HKFRS 9, such as 30 days past due, low credit risk threshold, change of
risk of default, etc.

More infermation on methodology of ECL is provided in note 27.

Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognised when the promised services are delivered to the Group's customers, in an amount
that is based on the consideration the Group expects to receive in exchange for those services when such
amounts are not probable of significant reversal.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income as interest income.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The EIR is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or
financial liability. When calculating the EiR, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms
of the financial instrument {for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the EIR, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Fees and commission expense in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income include service
fees. Service fee generally consists of transaction fees and monthly maintenance fees for products and
services provided to the Group. Amounts are recognised on a point-in-time basis as the related services are
rendered.

Employee benefit expense

Liabilities for wages, salaries, including bonus and annual leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised In
respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the balance sheet.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise halances with less than three months’
maturity from the date of acquisition, including: cash, balances with banks and other financial institutions,
and money market placements which are readily convertible to known amount of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from
equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant
and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably, The carrying amount of any compenent accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of
their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

. Office equipment 2-5 years
Furniture & Fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of their useful lives and the lease term

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, please refer to note 3{m) for impairment
treatment.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is group policy to transfer any amounts included
in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings.

22 FUSION BANK LIMITED



3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

k.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

i fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable, and

ii. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date,

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee wauld have ta pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based
on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability, and

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land and buitdings that are

presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chasen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held
by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets
Software

Expenditure on maintaining computer software is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Bank has sufficient resources and the intention to complete developrnent. The
expenditure capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct labor, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which itis incurred. Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation {(where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life using the straight-line method over the
following periods:

. Software 3-5 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets {cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for passible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Group and its subsidiaries operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates position taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based
on the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction
of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

n.

Current and deferred income tax {Continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consalidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates {and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and tax losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and itis probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously,

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of econamic benefits will be required to settle
a present legal or constructive obligation that has arisen as a result of past events and for which a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

A provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, with its carrying
amount reflecting the present value of those cash flows, where the effect of discounting is material. The
commitment is any legal obligation to potentially make or receive cash payments or transfer cash.
Commitments are not recognised in the financial statements. Disclosure is made unless the probability of
settlement is remote.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

q.

Share-based payments

The Group granted a share-based compensation plans, under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments of ultimate parent company. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of equity instruments of ultimate parent company is
recognised as an expense over the vesting period, i.e. the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied and credited to equity.

If the terms of an equity-settled share-based award are modified, an additional expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employees, as measured at the date of modification. Modifications of an equity-settied
share-based award in a manner that is not beneficial to employees are not taken into account when
determining the expenses to be recognised.

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled during the vesting period {other than a grant cancelled
by forfeiture when the vesting conditions are not satisfied), the Group accounts for the cancellation or
settlement as an acceleration of vesting, and therefore recognises immediately the amount that otherwise
would have been recognised for services received over the remainder of the vesting period.
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CRITICAL ESTIMATION AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimate and judgement are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates
and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Current and deferred income tax

The Bank is subject to income tax in Hong Kong. Judgement is required in determining the provision for income tax.
There are transactions and calculations during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on all temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised on
temporary differences where it is probable that there will be taxable revenue against which these can be offset, The
deferred tax assets relate to carried-forward tax losses of the subsidiary. The subsidiary has concluded that the
deferred assets will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based on the approved business plans
and budgets for the Group. The subsidiary generates taxable income from 2023 onwards. The related tax losses can
be carried forward until 2026,

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
past history and existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 27.
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5. NET INTEREST INCOME

The table below presents interest income and expense by accounting classification. Interest income and expense are
calculated using the effective interest method for financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

2024 2023
HKS'000 HKS'000
Interest income

Placements with and advances to banks 72,174 60,131
Investments in debt securities at amortised cost 140,686 65,305
Financial investments measured at FVOC! 51,035 -
l.oans and advances 32,497 28,131
296,392 153,567

Interest expense
Deposits from customers 220,424 110,312
Lease liabilities 402 667
Deposits from a related party {note 31) 726 452
221,552 111,431
Net interest income 74,840 42,136

No other gains or losses have been recognised in respect of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost other than as disclosed as Interest income, interest expense and foreign exchange differences
disclosed in ‘Other income’ {note 7).

6. NET FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES

2024 2023

HKS’000 HK5'000

Fee income 755 546
Bank charges (212) {157)
Other fees (2,644) (5,312)
Fee expenses (2,856) (5,469)
Net Fee and Commission Expenses (2,101) {4,923}

Other fees mainly consist of transaction fees and monthly subscription fees charged by Central Moneymarkets Unit.
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OTHER INCOME

2024 2023
HK$'000 HKS’000
Net foreign exchange gains 872 875
Others 151 343
Total 1,023 1,218
OPERATING EXPENSES
2024 2023
HKS$'000 HKS$’000
Staff costs 173,927 217,808
Directors’ remuneration
Fees 15,848 6,130
Others 4,456 3,561
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {note 20) 20,477 17,564
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {note 19) 10,698 11,494
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 21) 16,307 14,997
Auditors’ remuneration 2,464 2,280
Legal and professional fees 5,596 22,244
IT expenses 60,945 70,954
Premise expenses 6,195 6,987
Recruitment fee 696 2,853
Advertising and marketing expense 3,860 6,477
Others 21,089 29,985
Total 342,558 413,334

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, no retirement benefits were paid to director from
the Bank or its subsidiaries for their services rendered during the reporting period. The Group had not paid any (a)
payments or benefits in respect of the termination of the service of directors whether in the capacity of directors or
in any other capacity while being a director of the Group, and {b) consideration provided to or receivable by any third
party for making available the services of a person as a director or in any other capacity while being a director of the
Group. During the year, the Group had not granted any loans, quasi-loans nor entered into any other dealings in favor
of (a) the Directors, (b} entities controlfled by the Directors; or (c) entities connected with the Directors during the

year.

No director of the Bank had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in any significant transactions, arrangement and
contracts in refation to the Group's business to which the Group was or is a party that subsisted at the end of the year

or at any time during the year.
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9. NET CHARGE OF IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCE

2024 2023

HK$000 HKS'000

Loans and advances to customers 6,517 29,997
Other financial assets (409} 782
Total 6,108 30,779

10. INCOME TAX

Income tax expense is recognised based on management’s best knowledge of the income tax rates expected for the
financial year.
a. Hong Kong profits tax
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
b. People’s Republic of China Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT")
PRC CIT has been provided for at applicable tax rates under the relevant regulations of the PRC after
considering the available preferential tax benefits from refunds and allowances, and on the estimated

assessable profit of entities within the Group established in the Mainland of China for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. The general PRC CIT rate is 25% in 2024 and 2023,

The income tax expense of the Group is analysed as follows:

2024 2023

HKS$'000 HKS'000

Current income tax - -
Deferred income tax {note 22) 372 38
Total 372 38
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10.

11.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the financial statements as the Group had no estimated
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong
Kong profits tax rate as follows:

2024 2023

HK$'000 HKS' 000
Loss before income tax (274,904) (405,682)
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (45,359) (66,938)
Effects of different tax rates applicable to the subsidiary of the Group 19 46
Income not taxable for tax purpose (9,848) (8,612)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 10,854 13,140
Tax losses not recognised 41,957 62,402
Temporary difference not recoghised 2,749 -
Income tax 372 38

The unused Hong Kong tax losses of HKD2,037,491,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HKD1,785,226,000) were
incurred by the Bank. They can be carried forward and all tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

SUBSIDIARY

The Bank’s principal subsidiary at 31 December 2024 is set out below. Unless otherwise stated, the subsidiary’s share
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Bank, and the proportion of ownership interests
held equals the voting rights held by the Bank. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place
of business.

Ownership interest held by

the Bank
Place of Incorporation and  Principal activities and Particulars of issued 2024 2023
Name of entity kind of lagal entity place of operation share capital % %
Shenzhen Fusion PRC, limited liability IT Services, PRC Issued and paid, 100 100
Information company RMB10,000,000
Technalogy

Services Co. Ltd,

Cash and short-term deposits held in China are subject to local exchange control regulations. These regulations
provide for restrictions on exporting capital from China, other than through normal dividends. The carrying amount
of the assets included within the consolidated financial statements to which these restrictions apply is HKS4,153,000
(2023: HK53,617,000).
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12.

13.

14.

BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

2024 2023
HKS’000 HKS'000
Balances with central bank 236,024 89,520
Less: expected credit losses - -
Total 236,024 99,520
PLACEMENTS WITH AND ADVANCES TO BANKS
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS 000
Balances with banks 361,244 121,022
Placements with and advances to banks maturing within one month 670,526 689,277
Placements with and advances to banks maturing after one month but less
than one year 1,145,246 915,216
Less: expected credit losses - stage 1 (154) (273}
Total 2,176,862 1,725,242
INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES AT AMORTISED COST
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS'000
Investments Tn debt securities at amortised cost
Debt securities:
Exchange Fund Bills 119,986 825,605
Certificates of deposit 321,323 1,174,890
Bonds 312,421 1,104,526
Less: expected credit losses - stage 1 (35) (668)
753,695 3,104,353
Type of issuer:
Sovereign 146,717 1,012,706
Public Sector 119,804 228,165
Banks and other financial institutions 487,174 1,863,482
753,695 3,104,353
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15.

16.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
HKS'000 HKS’000
Financial investments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Debt securities:
Exchange Fund Bills 1,560,212 -
Certificates of deposit 978,944 -
Bonds 1,268,343 -
3,807,499 -
Type of issuer:
Sovereign 1,833,895 -
Public Sector 162,357 -
Corporates 193,217 -
Banks and other financial institutions 1,618,030 -
3,807,499 -
LOANS AND ADVANCES
2024 2023
HK$'000 HKS’000
Gross loans and advances to customers 998,371 675,935
Less: expected credit losses
- Stage 1 {2,879) (3,043)
- Stage 2 {4,648) (9,554}
- Stage 3 {3,620} (3,264)
987,224 660,074
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17.  OTHER DEPOSITS AND RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

HKS$'000 HKS’000

Rental and other deposits 9,783 10,409
Accounts receivable on unsettled trade 7,931 -
Other amounts receivable 687 1,688
18,401 12,097

18.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY MEASUREMENT CATEGORY

The following table analyses financial assets and financial liabilities as presented In the consolidated statement of
financial position by HKFRS 9 classifications.

2024 2023
HK$'000 HKS'000
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Investments in debt securities 753,695 3,104,353
Balances with central bank 236,024 99,520
Placements with and advances to banks 2,176,862 1,725,242
Loans and advances 987,224 660,074
Other deposits and receivables 18,401 12,097
Financtal assets at FVOC)
Financial investments 3,807,499 -
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Deposits from customers 6,966,060 4,555,308
Deposits from a related party - 16,698
Accruals and other payables 277,830 53,802
Lease liabilities 5,628 17,424
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19.

LEASES

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2024 2023
HKS$'000 HKS'000

Right-of-use assets
Buildings 5,681 16,135

Lease liabilities

Current 5,074 12,001
Non-current 554 5,423
5,628 17,424

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2024 financial year were HK$264,000 (2023: HK$3,508,000).

Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to
leases:

2024 2023
HKS$'000 HKS$'000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings 10,698 11,494
Interest expense (included in interest expense) 402 667

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was HK$12,372,000 (2023: HK$13,560,000).

The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office  Furniture and Computer Leasehold
Equipment Fixtures Equipment Improvements Total
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK5'000

At 1]January 2023
Cost 61,381 3,263 23,668 27,102 115,414
Accumulated depreciation {29,138) {1,547} {12,855) {26,919) (70,459)
Net book amount 32,243 1,716 10,813 183 44,955
Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount 32,243 1,716 10,813 183 44,955
Additions 1,279 - 3588 - 1,677
Disposals {3} {159) - - {162)
Write-off - - (3,653) - {3,653)
Depreciation charges (note 8) (12,662) (636} (4,083} (183) {17,564)
Foreign exchange effect (38) (14) (6) - {58)
Closing net book amount 20,819 ap7 3,469 - 25,195
At 31 December 2023 & 1 January 2024
Cost 62,602 3,027 20,182 27,102 112,913
Accumulated depreciation {41,783) (2,120} {16,713) (27,102) {87,718}
Net book amount 20,819 907 3,469 - 25,195
Year ended 31 December 2024
Opening net book amount 20,819 907 3,469 - 25,195
Depreciation charges {note 8) {17,050) (599) (2,828) - (20,477)
Foreign exchange effect (165) (5) (3} - (173)
Closing net book amount 3,604 303 638 - 4,545
At 31 December 2024
Cost 22,328 3,014 20,165 26,999 72,506
Accumulated depreciation (18,724) (2,711) {19,527) (26,999) {67,961)
Net book amount 3,604 303 638 - 4,545
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21.

22.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software Total
HKS'000 HKS'000

Non-Current
At 1 January 2023
Cost 71,101 71,101
Accumulated amortisation {36,894} (36,894}
Net book amount 34,207 34,207
Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount 34,207 34,207
Additions 3,699 3,699
Write-off (113) {113)
Amortisation charges (note 8) {14,997) (14,997}
Closing net book amount 22,796 22,796
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Cost 74,687 74,687
Accumulated amortisation {51,891) {51,891}
Net book amount 22,796 22,796
Year ended 31 December 2024
Opening net book amount 22,796 22,796
Additions 16,571 16,571
Amortisation charges (note 8) (16,307) {(16,307)
Closing net book amount 23,060 23,060
At 31 December 2024
Cost 91,258 91,258
Accumulated amortisation {68,198) (68,198)
Net book amount 23,060 23,060

DEFERRED TAX ASSET

Deferred taxis recognised in respect of the temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements and unused tax credits in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes”. The major components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recorded in the balance sheet, and the movements

during the year are as follows:

Unused tax losses

HK’'000
At 1 January 2023 1,556
(Charged)/credited to the statement of profit or {38)
comprehensive income [note 10)
Exchange difference and others {14)
At 31 December 2023 1,504
(Charged)/credited to the statement of profit or (372)
comprehensive income (hote 10)
Exchange difference and others (76)
At 31 December 2024 1,056
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax assets are recoghised for deductible temparary differences and tax loss carried forward to the
extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group only
recognises deferred income tax assets for unused cumulative tax losses if it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available to utilise those tax losses. The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of HKD336,186,000
{2023: HKD294,562,000) in respect of losses amounting to HKD2,037,491,000 (2023: HKD1,785,226,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual entity basis when there is a legal right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxation relates to the same authority. The following
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the balance sheet:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS'000
Deferred tax asset 1,056 1,504
23. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS
2024 2023
HK$'000 HKS$'000
Saving account balances 429,024 291,966
Term deposits 6,537,036 4,263,342
Total 6,966,060 4,555,308
24.  ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS$'000
Staff compensation and benefits accruals 29,452 33,398
IT costs accruals 24,408 17,359
Accruals for intangible assets purchase 2,852 -
Account payable on unsettled trade 198,083 -
Other amounts payable 52,487 36,443
Total 307,282 87,200
25. SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary Share
shares capital
Number of shares HK$'000
Issued and fully paid
At 1January 2023 1,000 2,000,001
Capital contribution by the member - 800,000
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 1,000 2,800,001

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at general meetings of the Group. All shares rank equally with regard to the Group’s residual assets.
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26. ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

a. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following balances, which have less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
Balances with central bank 236,024 99,520
Balances with banks 361,244 121,022
Placement with banks 661,339 511,985
1,258,607 732,527
Reconciliation with the statement of financial position:
Balances with central bank 236,024 99,520
Placements with and advances to banks 2,177,016 1,725,515
Balances per statement of financial position 2,413,040 1,825,035
Less: amount with original maturities beyond three months (1,154,433} (1,092,508)
1,258,607 732,527
b. Reconciliation of cash flows from aperating activities
2024 2023
HKS’000 HKS'000
Loss before tax {274,904) (405,682)
Adjustments for:
Interest income (296,392) {153,567)
Interest expense 221,552 111,431
Depreciation expense (note 8} 31,175 29,058
Amortisation expense (note 8) 16,307 14,997
Write-off - 3,766
Changes in expected credit losses 6,108 30,779
Share-based payment 22,100 -
Effect of exchange rate changes {872) {875)
Operating cash flows before changes in operating assets and
liakilities (274,926) (370,093)
Changes in operating assets
{Increase)/Decrease in loans and advances (332,018) 292,171
(Increase)/Decrease in prepaid expenses (1,397) 9,416
Decrease in other deposits and receivables 1,462 14,664
Increase in placements of bank deposits with original maturity
beyond 3 months (60,797} (665,636)
Changes in operating liabilities
Increase in deposits from customers 2,411,821 1,076,252
(Decrease)/Increase in deposits from a related party (16,470} 614
Increase/(Decrease) in accruals and other payables 19,182 (177,864)
Interest received 102,427 75,107
Interest paid {222,447} {87,905)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 1,626,837 166,726
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26.

27.

ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

C. Non-cash investing activities
Non-cash investing activities disclosed in other note is:

- Acquisition of right-of-use assets - note 19

d. Reconciliation of lease liabilities arising from financing activities
Leases
HKS'000
Balance as at 1 January 2023 (26,739)
Cashflows 12,893
Addition of new lease liabilities {(note 19} {3,508)
Foreign exchange difference {70}
Balance as at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 (17,424)
Cashflows 12,372
Addition of new lease liabilities {note 19) (264)
Foreign exchange difference {312)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 (5,628)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management procedures

The Group is committed to maintaining an appropriate balance between its risk exposures and the level of return it
targets to achieve for the Group's sustainable profitability, financial soundness and viability. The Group established
an Enterprise Risk Management Framework (“the Framework”) and the Framework sets out the risk management
standard and value for the Group. 12 principal risks, which include credit, capital, market, liquidity, interest rate risk
in the banking book {“IRRBB”), operational, cyber and technology, reputational, legal, strategic, regulatory compliance
and financial crime compliance risks, are identified in the Framework. This ensures the Group has a consistent
approach to measure, monitor, control and mitigate the risks inherent in the business activities.

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the effective management of risk and approves the risk appetite. Three
cammittees, include Risk Committee ("RC”), Audit Committee, and Nomination and Remuneration Committee are
established in compliance with governance codes and best practice to ensure due attention is given to assist the Board
in discharge of its duties and responsibilities stipulated in the respective terms of reference. RC is responsible for
oversight and advise the Board on high level risk related matters, such as risk appetite, risk limits and future risk
strategy of the Group, and risk governance including risk culture-related matters.

Risk appetite is one of the core components under risk management and is defined as the risks that the Group is willing
to accept in achieving the medium and long-term strategic goals. The Group Risk Appetite Statement is approved by
the Board with advisory from RC. The actual risk appetite report would also be monitored and reviewed through Risk
Management Committee (“RMC”), one of the management committee in the Group, not less than 6 times each year
to ensure issue can be escalated to the senior management and the Board, and mitigating actions can be taken in a
timely manner.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Risk management procedures (Continued)

The Group adopts a three lines of defence (“LOD”) approach to ensure effective risk management and to enable the
Group to separate risk management activities among first LOD who owns the risk and is accountable for relevant risk
control implementation; secand LOD who oversees the first line, monitors risk management activities and supports
controls; third LOD who provides assurance that the risk management process is effectively in place.

The Group also performs stress testing exercises regularly in order to evaluate the potential adverse impact on the
Group's profitability and capital adequacy due to deterioration in economic condition and this programme is also used
to support business and capital planning.

Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising from failure to satisfy financial obligations of a borrower, counterparty,
issuer, guarantor o any other forms of obligors. Currently, the Group incurs credit risk mainly from treasury activities
{i.e. placements, investments and settlements), retail and corporates lending activities. Overall credit risk of the Group
is managed through a comprehensive risk management framework to ensure that risk level of credit portfoliois In line
with the Group's risk appetite and cultivate a sound credit culture while regulatory requirements are fulfilled all the
time.

The Group has established a set of policies and procedures approved by the Board or its delegated committee(s) to
identify, measure, monitor and control credit risk at both portfolio level and individual level. These policies and
procedures covers various areas including but not limited to governance structure, risk acceptance and tolerance level,
credit risk strategy, exposure measurement and credit administration.

Credit risk management

Overall credit risk of the Group is managed through a comprehensive risk management framewark to ensure that risk
level of credit portfolio is in line with the Group's risk appetite and cultivate a sound credit culture while regulatory
requirements are fulfilled all the time.

The Group has established a set of policies and procedures approved by the Board or its delegated committee(s) to
identify, measure, monitor and control credit risk at both portfolio level and individual level. These policies and
procedures cover various areas including but not [imited to governance structure, risk acceptance and tolerance level,
credit risk strategy, exposure measurement and credit administration.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

When assessing significant increase in credit risk (“SICR"), the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis based on the Group's historical experience and expert credit risk assessment, including
forward-looking information.

The probability of default {(“PD"} is derived from internal credit rating grades (based on available information about
the borrower) and multiple forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios which are probability weighted. Credit risk is
considered to have increased significantly if the PD has significantly increased at the reporting date relative to the PD
of the facility, at the date of initial recognition. The assessment of whether a change in PD is “significant” is based both
on a consideration of the relative change in PD and on qualitative indicators of the credit risk of the facility, which
indicate whether a loan is performing or in difficulty. In addition, as a backstop, the Group considers that SICR has
occurred in all cases when an asset is more than 30 days past due.

In general, ECL are measured so that they reflect:

. A probability-weighted range of possible outcomes
. The time value of money; and
- Relevant information relating to past, current and future economic conditions.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit Risk {Continued)
Calculation of ECL
ECL are calculated using three main components:

. PD: for accounting purposes, the 12 month and lifetime PD represent the expected point-in-time probability
of a default over the next 12 months and over the remaining lifetime of the financial instrument respectively,
based on conditions existing at the balance sheet date and future economic conditions.

. Expected [oss given default ("LGD"): the LGD represents expected loss conditional on default, taking into
account the mitigating effect of collateral, including the expected value of the collateral when realised and
the time value of money.

. Estimated exposure at default (“EAD"}: this represents the expected EAD, taking into account the expected
repayment of principal and interest from the balance sheet date to the default event together with any
expected drawdowns of the facility over that period.

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models, incorporating historical, current
and forward-looking macro-economic data and country risk expert judgement. The macro-economic scenarios are
reviewed quarterly.

The 12 month ECL is equal to the sum over the next 12 months of quarterly PD multiplied by LGD and EAD for retail
and corporate portfolio, sum over the next 12 months of annual PD multiplied by LGD and EAD for others, with such
expected losses being discounted at the EIR. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the discounted present value of total
quarterly PDs multiplied by LGD and EAD, over the full remaining life of the facility.

When measuring ECL, the Group considers multiple scenarios, except where practical expedients are used to
determine ECL. Practical expedients are used where they are consistent with the principles described above.
Incorporation of forward-looking information into ECL maodels

HKFRS9 requires an estimate of forward-looking ECL which is typically obtained through the use of forecasted
macroeconomic factors (“MEFs”).

The Group has developed three scenarios for macro-economic factors and its underlying assumptions of the scenario
are listed below:

. The hase scenario is based on a set of macroeconomic forecasts which formulate a “base case” view of the
most probable future direction of relevant economic variables

. The good scenario is determined by making reference to the “base” scenario and reflects positive
uncertainties by incorporating upside variations to the “base” scenaric macreeconomic forecasts.

. The bad scenario is determined by making reference to the “base” scenario and reflects negative
uncertainties by incorporating downside variations to the “base” scenarioc macroeconomic forecasts.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Credit Risk {Continued)
Incorporation of forward-looking information into ECL. models {continued)

The Group has considered the current economic performance, the market forecast and the management judgement
on the economic outlook and assigned probability weighting to Good, Bad and Base Scenarios:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Good 10% 10%
Bad 40% 40%
Base 50% 50%

At 31 December 2024

The assumptions used for ECL estimations for the retail exposure are as follows:

2025 Forward-looking 5 years’ average

Scenario {Year end) {2025-2029)

Hong Kong Unemployment Rate (%) Good 2.51 2,51
Base 2.80 2,76

Bad 3.98 3.74

Hong Kong Private Retail Price Index Good 487.11 583.98
Base 438.37 470.06

Bad 411.29 416.98

Hong Kong GDP YoY (%) Good 3.77 3.33
Base 3.18 2.87

Bad 1.50 1.43

The assumptions used for ECL estimations for the wholesale exposure are as follows:

2025 Forward-looking 5 years' average

Scenario (Year end) {2025-2029})

Hong Kong GDP (%) Good 3.64 3.33
Base 311 2.87

Bad 1.58 1,43

China Unemployment Rate (%) Good 3.64 351
Base 3.82 3.72

Bad 3.97 3.92

United States of America GDP (%) Good 2.54 2.83
Base 2,26 2.34

Bad 1.59 1.49

China GDP (%) Good 4.89 4.77
Base 4.17 4.14

Bad 3.43 3.54

United States of America Export (%) Good 4.45 4.80
Base 2.62 2.78

Bad 0.35 0.72
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit Risk (Continued)

Incorporation of forward-looking information into ECL models (continued)

At 31 December 2023

The assumptions used for ECL estimations for the retail exposure are as follows:

Hong Kong Unemployment Rate (%)

Hong Kong Private Retail Price Index

Hong Kong GDP YoY (%)

2024 Forward-looking

Scenario (Year end)
Good 2.80
Base 3.50
Bad 4.60
Good 455.85
Base 505.02
Bad 529.75
Good 5.00
Base 2.77
Bad {4.50)

The assumptions used for ECL estimations for the wholesale exposure are as follows:

Hong Kong GDP (%)

China Unemployment Rate (%)

United States of America GDP (%}

China GDP (%)

United States of America Export {%)
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2024 Forward-looking

Scenario (Year end)
Good 5.69
Base 3.07
Bad (2.14}
Good 3.37
Base 3.97
Bad 5.46
Good 2.67
Base 1.48
Bad 0.70
Good 4,95
Base 4.16
Bad (1.21)
Good 2.80
Base (0.18)
Bad (3.77)

5 years” average
(2024-2028)
2.75

3.02

3.55

450.57
538.81
589.23

4.21
2.59
0.15

5 years' average
{2024-2028)
4.37

2.67

0.41

3.63
3.97
4,76

2.51
192
144

4,22
3.88
1.78

3.27
2.19
1.03



FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit Risk {Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, sensitivity analysis is conducted for the impact of impairment allowance results
against the forward-looking macroeconomic variables on the basis that (i} Good scenario weight increases by 10% and
Base scenario weight is lowered by 10%; {ii) Bad scenario weight increases by 10% and Base scenario weight is lowered
by 10% as follows:

2024 2023
Good +10% and base - 10% 11,583 16,680
Bad +10% and base -10% 11,878 17,298

Credit Risk Grading

In order to fulfil the requirements of probability weighted forward-looking ECL, Point-in-Time {“PiT”) PD is adopted in
the ECL estimation, Both qualitative and quantitative criteria are considered while determining the approach for each
product type. Two approaches are developed to capture the specific risk characteristics of products:

. Z risk factor approach: The PD is modelled based on the relationship between macroeconomic factors and Z
factor. Z factor could be interpreted as credit cycle adjustment term to convert through-the-cycle historical
PD inte point-in-time PD. Detail technical definition would be discussed in later section. This approach would
be more suitable for wholesale portfolio and commonly adopted among peer banks,

- Vintage blending approach: The idea of vintage blending approach is to derive a PD estimate through a certain
combination of observed default rate (“ODR") at different observation time points, known as “vintage” here.
It is a non-parametric approach which is distribution-free and the PD estimate is derived based on empirical
data. This approach would be more suitable for retail portfolio that wouid have relatively more internal
empirical default data comparing with wholesale portfolio which is also adopted in some peer leading banks.
The data used would be mainly sourced from internal data with the aid of external data to support certain
granularity in PD calibration.

Credit-impaired financial instruments

In assessing the impairment of financial instruments under the ECL. model, the Group defines credit-impaired financial
instruments in accordance with the policies and procedures set out by the Risk Management Department (“RMD”), A
financial instrument is credit-impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Group
will be unable to collect all scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms
of the agreement,
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {(CONTINUED)

Credit Risk {Continued)
Definition of Default

In assessing the impairment of financial instruments under the ECL madel, the Group defines default in accordance
with RMDY's policies and procedures. This considers whether the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full and takes into account qualitative indicators. The definition of defaulit also includes a presumption
that a financial asset which is more than 90 days past due (“DPD”} has defaulted.

Write-offs

Loans and government debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when they are deemed uncollectible
which generally occurs when all commercially reasonable means of recovering the balance have been exhausted. Such
determination is based on an indication that the borrower can no longer pay the obligation, or that the proceeds from
collateral will not be sufficient to pay the balance.

Partial write-offs are made when a portion of the balance is uncollectable. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities for recoveries of amounts due. If the amount to be written off is
greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is reflected directly in the statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income within ‘Net charge of impairment allowance’ and is not recognised in the loss allowance
account. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to ‘Net charge of impairment allowance’ within the statement of
prafit or loss and comprehensive income.

Credit Initiation and Evaluation

A clear hierarchy of governance structure and mechanism has been established throughout the entire credit initiation
and evaluation process. Specifically, upon receiving credit applications, each case would be evaluated based on pre-
established criteria and all other relevant factors including but not limited to nature of transactions, types of obligors,
financial conditions, credit ratings, market situations, industry dynamics and corporate governance of obligors. Each
credit application is then handled in accordance with delegated approval authorities, Proper risk mitigation measures
may also be introduced to protect the Group’s interest.

Credit Monitoring and Control

A set of credit monitoring and control processes and procedures has been established to manage credit risk across
the Group. Exposure limit is set across obligors, products and portfolio level to ensure that credit risk concentration is
manageable while regulatory and internal requirements are fulfilled. RMD and applicable business units also closely
monitor exposures and progress of execution of risk mitigation measures, as well as perform stress tests to identify,
analyse and control credit risk concentrations arising from the Group’s lending and treasury activities to assess the
impact of market shock on the Group’s credit portfolio and financial position.

The Group applies a three stage approach to measuring ECL based on the change in credit risk since initial recognition:
- Stage 1:if the credit risk of the financial instrument at the reporting date has not increased significantly since

initial recognition then the loss allowance is calculated as the lifetime cash shortfalls that will result if a default
occurs in the next 12 months, weighted by the probability of that default occurring.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED}

Credit Risk (Continued)
Credit Monitoring and Control (Continued}

. Stage 2:if there has been a SICR since initial recognition, the loss allowance is calculated as the ECL over the
remaining life of the financial instrument. If it is subsequently determined that there has no longer been a
SICR since initial recognition, then the loss allowance reverts to reflecting 12 month expected losses.

. Stage 3: if there has been a SICR since initial recognition and the financial instrument is deemed credit-
impaired (see below for definition of credit-impaired), the loss allowance is calculated as the ECL over the
remaining life of the financial instrument. If it is subsequently determined that there has no longer been a
SICR since initial recognition, then the loss allowance reverts to reflecting 12 month expected losses.

ECL is calculated as a function of PD, LGD, EAD, expected life and discount factor.

. PD: Probability of an obligor or facility to be defaulted within a specific period of time
. LGD: Loss as a percentage of EAD given the obligor or facility has defaulted

- EAD: predicted outstanding balance and accrued interests as at the point of default

. Expected life: cantractual period during which exposed to credit risk

. Discount factor: EIR

The above methodology for expected loss estimation should incorporate historical infoermation, current conditions, as
well as forward-looking information. Therefore, obtaining MEF projections is critical to estimate the forward-looking
element in ECL estimation. The Group formed a standard framework to project economic scenarios including Base,
Good and Bad scenarios to reflect assumptions about future economic conditions. Key macroeconomic variables in
Hong Kong, China and United States are considered, including GDP, unemployment rate, interest rate, import and
export, inflation, etc. The final macroeconomic response models depending on the best correlation between the
PD/LGD and the MEFs are selected to project the forward-looking element for the ECL.

Exposure to Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk (“gross credit exposure”) of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023 is disclosed below, based on the carrying amounts of the financial assets and the maximum amount that the
Group could have to pay in relation to unrecognised financial instruments, which the Group believes are subject to
credit risk. The table includes financial instruments subject to ECL and not subject to ECL. Those financial instruments
that bear credit risk but are not subject to ECL are subsequently measured at fair value. Exposure arising from financial
instruments not recognised on the statement of financial position is measured as the maximum amount that the
Group could have to pay, which may be significantly greater than the amount that would be recognised as a liability.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {CONTINUED)

Credit Risk (Continued)

Exposure to Credit Risk (Continued)

31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Class 12-months ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL  carrying amount
HKS$’000 HK$'000 HKS’000 HK$'000

Subject to ECL:
Cash and short-term deposits 2,413,040 - - 2,413,040
Investment securities 4,561,229 - - 4,561,229
Loans and advances 969,828 24,822 3,721 998,371
Other deposits and receivables 18,401 - - 18,401

31 December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Class 12-months ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL  carrying amount
HKS’000 HKS$’000 HKS$'000 HKS’000

Subject to ECL:
Cash and short-term deposits 1,825,035 - - 1,825,035
Investment securities 3,105,021 - - 3,105,021
Loans and advances 635,581 36,514 3,840 675,935
Other deposits and receivables 12,097 - - 12,097

Where the Group enters into credit enhancements, including receiving cash and security as collateral and master
netting agreements, to manage the credit exposure on these financial instruments the financial effect of the credit
enhancements is also disclosed below. The net credit exposure represents the credit exposure remaining after the
effect of the credit enhancements.

Exposure to credit risk by class

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Credit Adjusted Credit Adjusted
Net credit enhance- Credit  Net credit enhance- Credit
Class exposure ments exposure exposure ments exposure
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000

Subject to ECL:
Cash and short-term deposits 2,412,886 - 2,412,886 1,824,762 - 1,824,762
Investment securities 4,561,194 - 4,561,194 3,104,353 - 3,104,353
Loans and advances 987,224 - 987,224 660,074 - 660,074
Other deposits and receivables 18,401 - 18,401 12,097 - 12,097
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit Risk (Continued)
Credit Quality
Exposure to credit risk by rating grades

Rating grades for non-individual obligors, as below, are derived using methodologies generally consistent with those
used by external agencies:

Investment grade: AAA - BBB
Non-investment grade: BB - CCC
Default: D

The table below shows gross carrying amount and, in the case of unrecognised financial instruments, nominal amounts
by rating grade.

Total Non- Total gross Total
At 31 December 2024 investment investment carrying ECL carrying
in HK$'000 AA A BBE grade grade Unrated amount  allowance amount
Subject to ECL:
Cash and short term
deposits 562,406 930,182 709,403 2,201,991 211,049 - 2,413,040 (154) 2,412,886
Investrent securities 2,115,767 1,985,058 460,404 4,561,229 - - 4,561,229 {35) 4,561,194
Qther deposits and
recelvables - - - - - 18,401 18,401 - 18,401
Total Subject to ECL 2,678,173 2,915,240 1,169,807 6,763,220 211,049 18,401 6,992,670 {189} 6,992,481
Total Non- Total gross Total
At 31 December 2023 investment investment carrying ECL carrying
in HK$'000 AR A BBB grade grade Unrated amount allowance amount
Subject to ECL:
Cash and shert term
deposits 195,411 863,474 730,956 1,789,841 35,194 - 1,825,035 (273) 1,824,762
Investment securities 1,348,156 1,653,255 63,610 3,105,021 - - 3,105,021 (668) 3,104,353
Other deposits and
receivables - - - - - 12,097 12,097 - 12,097
Total Subject to ECL 1,543,567 2,556,729 794,566 4,894,862 35,194 12,097 4,942,153 (941) 4,841,212

The table below shows gross carrying amount of loans and advances to retail customers by rating grade.

Total gross
Special  Substandard carrying ECL Total carrying
in HKS’000 Pass mention or below amount allowance amount
At 31 December 2024 993,724 926 3,721 998,371 (11,147) 987,224
At 31 December 2023 671,519 576 3,840 675,935 (15,861) 660,074
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27.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {CONTINUED)

Credit Risk [Continued)

Expected credit loss allowance

Financial instruments subject to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9

There have been enhancement made to estimation techniques that incorporates the Group’s internal empirical

information but no significant assumptions for estimating impairment during the year. There were no modifications
to financial assets during the year or since origination and therefore modifications have not impacted ECL staging.

ECL on cash and shert-term deposits, investment securitles, and other receivables is de minimis owing to their short
term tenure.

The following tables explain the changes in gross exposure and the loss allowance between the beginning and the end
of the annual period due to these factors:

Loans and advances to customers

2024
Stage 1 12-month ECL Stage 2 Lifetime ECL Stage 3 Lifetime ECL Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
exposure  Allowance exposure  Allowance exposure  Allowance exposure  Allowance

HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK5’000 HK$’000 HK5'000 HK$'000

Balance at 1 January 635,581 3,043 36,514 9,554 3,840 3,264 675,935 15,861
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to

Stage 2 (21,051) {5,479) 21,051 5,479 - - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to

Stage 1 B,472 1,808 (8,472} [1,808) - - - -
Transfer to Stage 3 {2,589) {130} (8,308) {5,143) 10,895 5,273 . -

Transfer from Stage 3 - - - - - R . .
Net new financial assets

originated (asset

derecognised/

repayment) 349,415 3,637 {15,965) (3,434) 848 6,314 334,298 6,517
Amounts written off - - - - {11,862) (11,862} (11,862) {11,862)
Recoveries - - - - - 506 - 506
QOther movement - - - - - 125 - 125
Balance at 31 December 969,828 2,879 24,822 4,648 3,721 3,620 998,371 11,147
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {CONTINUED)

Credit Risk {Continued)

Expected credit loss allfowance {Continued)

Financial instruments subject to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

2023
Stage 1 12-month ECL Stage 2 Lifetime ECL Stage 3 Lifetime ECL Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
exposure Allowance exposure Allowance exposure Allowance exposure Allowance
HKS$'000 HK$"000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK5'000 HK$'000 HK5'000
Balance at 1 January 944,975 2,173 20,650 3,819 1,002 887 966,627 6,879
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to
Stage 2 {54,083) (24,185) 54,093 24,185 - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to
Stage 1 2,820 312 (2,820) (312) - - -
Transfer to Stage 3 (6,007) {182) {18,705) {16,573} 24,712 16,755 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 - - - - - - - -
Net new financial assets
originated (asset
derecognised/
repayment) {252,114) 24,925 {16,704) {1,565) (618) 6,637 (269,436) 29,997
Amounts written off - - - (21,256) {21,256) {21,256) (21,256)
Recoveries - - - - - 241 - 241
Balance at 21 December 635,581 3,043 36,514 9,554 3,840 3,264 675,935 15,861

The changes in ECL on the investments in debt securities at amortised cost, financial investments measured at FVQCI
and placements with and advances to banks relate to stage 1 12 month ECL and the movement during the year arises
from net new financial assets originated/(asset derecognised).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group is not able to honour its financial obligations when they fail due at a
reasonable cost. This may be caused by market disruption or difficulty in liquidating assets. The primary objective of
liguidity risk management is to maintain stable, reliable and adequate source of funding to meet liquidity needs under
both normal and stressed conditions.

The Group has established liquidity risk management policy that outlines the liquidity risk management framework
according to the liquidity risk appetite approved by the Board and to comply with the regulatory requirements
including but not limited to the Hong Kong Monetary Authority’s {the “HKMA”) Supervisory Policy Manuals {“SPM"”)
“LM-1 Regulatory Framework for Supervision of Liquidity Risk” and “LM-2 Sound Systems and Controls for Liquidity
Risk Management”. The liquidity risk management framework is to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained at all
times.

In accordance with the Group’s corporate governance principles, the Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing
the liquidity and funding risk in the Group. RC under the Board provides an independent oversight and guidance to
the Board on liquidity risk issues. Under leadership of Chief Executive (“CE”), Executive Committee (“EXCO") is a senior
management committee for formulating and recommending the Board and RC to approve the liquidity risk
management principles, policies and frameworks.

As authorised by EXCO, Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) is the primary committee in managing the liquidity
and funding profile in the Group. Under the guidance of ALCO, Treasury is primary responsible for the overall liquidity
management for the Group on a day-to-day basis. RMD coordinates with Treasury and other business units to help
ensure a consistent and comprehensive framework for managing liquidity risk across the Group.

In accordance with the Banking (Liquidity) Rules and SPM, the Group has set up internal limits and triggers on the
liquidity maintenance ratic ("LMR"} which is well above the statutory requirement, On top of the regulatory LMR
requirements, the Group minimises the cash flow maturity mismatch by establishing limits on Maximum Cumulative
Outflow (“MCO”) indicator, which predicts the future 30 days maximum cumulative net cash outflow under normal
situation. The Group maintains certain level of liquidity cushion such as Exchange Fund Bills to mitigate potential
liguidity risk and meet liquidity needs during liquidity crisis.

The Group strives to develop a diversified and stable funding base with access to funding sources across retail and
wholesale channels. To avoid over reliance of a particular funding source, the Group imposes funding concentration
control measures such as establishing management action triggers for non-bank deposit ratio, single top depositor
ratio and top 10 depositors’ ratio.

The Group conducts monthly liquidity stress tests based on institution specific, general market and combined stress
scenarios defined according to the SPM LM-2. The results of the stress tests are used to identify potential liquidity
vulnerabilities within the Group, to establish internal limits and to formulate the Contingency Funding Plan {“CFP").

The Group has formulated a CFP for dealing with a liquidity crisis and detailing the operating procedures for making
up funding shortfall under emergency situation. CFP sets out the readily deployable funding sources, funding
measures, potential steps to meet intraday critical payment, operational procedures and the estimated time of assets
disposal for cash. The plan is updated and reviewed at least annually by the ALCO to ensure that It remains robust
upon changing business and market conditions.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity Risk (Continued)
Maturity analysis

In the following maturity analysis, financial liabilities are presented at fair value. All other amounts represent
undiscounted cash flows payable by the Group arising from its financial liabilities to earfiest contractual maturities as
at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. Repayments of financial liabilities that are subject to immediate notice
are treated as If notice were given immediately and are classified as on demand. This presentation is considered by
the Group to appropriately reflect the liquidity risk arising from those financial liabilities, presented in a way that is
consistent with how the liquidity risk on these financial liabilities is managed by the Group.

More than More than

1 month 3 months
but not but not Total
Not more more than more than More than contractual Total carrying
On demand than 1 month 3 months 1year 1vyear cash flows amount
31 December 2024 HK$'000 HK5'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Financial liabilities
Ceposits from customers 426,024 1,719,990 3,797,477 1,065,445 - 7,011,940 6,966,060
Accruals and other payables - 277,830 - - - 277,830 277,830
Lease liabilities - 1,118 2,235 1,798 564 5,715 5,628
Total financial liabilities 429,024 1,998,938 3,799,712 1,067,247 564 7,295,485 7,249,518
More than 3
More than 1 months but
month but not not Total
Not more more than more than Mare than1 contractual Total carrying
On Demand than 1 month 3 months 1 year year cash flows amount
31 December 2023 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' 600 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 291,963 800,318 1,623,373 1,892,126 - 4,607,780 4,555,308
Deposits from a related
party - 16,765 - - - 16,765 16,698
Accruals and other payables - 53,802 - - - 53,802 53,802
Lease liabilities - 1,136 2,291 8,881 5,748 18,056 17,424
Total financial liabilities 291,963 872,021 1,625,664 1,901,007 5,748 4,696,403 4,643,232

Market Risk

Market risk is defined as the risk of loss to the Group resulting from the movements in observable market prices and
rates (such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates, equity prices, commodity prices) and indirectly
observable market parameters (such as volatilities and correlations). Currently the market risk predominantly arises
from the Group’s treasury activities and trading activities.

The Group has established market risk management policy that outlines the market risk management framework
according to the market risk appetite approved by the Board. The market risk management framework is to ensure
that the market risk is identified, measured, monitored and reported on a timely basis.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Market Risk (Continued)

In accordance with the Group’s corporate governance principles, the Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing
the market risk in the Group. RC under the Board provides an independent oversight and guidance to the Board on
market risk issues. Under leadership of CE, EXCO is a senior management committee for formulating and
recommending the Board and RC to approve the market risk management principles, policies and frameworks.

As authorised by EXCO, RMC is the primary committee in managing the market risk profile in the Group. Business units
such as Treasury and Global Market are responsible for carrying out market risk activities and first line of defence in
market risk management. RMD acts as an independent party to perform second line of defence in market risk
management. Internal Audit Department (“IAD") is responsible for third line of defence in market risk management.

The Group monitors the market risk exposures against various types of limit on aggregate or individual unit levels. The
limits include Value-at-Risk {“VaR"), stress testing and position limit (e.g. net open position). The VaR limit is set up
and reviewed by RC and approved by the Board according to the overall risk appetite of the Group, while the other
key limits are set up and reviewed by RMC/ALCO authority. The risk methodology for VaR and stress testing is properly
maintained and reviewed by RMC. The monitoring of the above limits are carried out on daily basis.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign
currencies such as United States Dollar (“USD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). To ensure the foreign currency risk exposure
of the Group is kept to an acceptable level, risk limits are used to serve as a monitoring tool. The Group’s exposures
to foreign exchange risk were as follows:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
UsD RMB usb RMB

Assets
Placements with and advances to

banks 808,960 74,642 52,890 81,657
Investments in debt securities at

amortised cost 344,604 26,732 720,496 193,524
Financial investments measured at

FvOCI 863,570 347,254 - -
Loans and advances 9,953 19,715 - -
Other assets 8,947 3,054 1,092 6,517
Total assets 2,036,034 471,397 774,478 281,698
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 1,687,347 470,227 418,863 270,328
Deposits from a related party - - 16,698 -
Accruals and other payables 6,783 4,219 1,452 7,762
Lease liabilities - 205 - 1,417
Total liabilities 1,694,130 474,651 437,013 279,507

As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group considers the risk of movements in exchange rates between the HKD and
the USD to be insignificant.

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, no sensitivity analysis is prepared as the management considered that
the effect is insignificant due to the insignificant net position.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Market Risk {Continued)
Interest rate risk

IRRBB refers to the risk to both the earnings and the economic value of the Group arising from adverse movements in
interest rates that affects the banking book positions of the Group. The Group's interest rate exposures in the banking
book may arise from deposit-taking, lending and treasury activities. The major types of interest rate risk could be
broadly divided into gap risk, basis risk and option risk.

The Group has established interest rate risk in banking book policy that outlines the interest risk management
framework in banking book according to the IRRBB risk appetite approved by the Board and to comply with the
regulatory requirements including but not limited to HKMA SPM “IR-1 Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book”. The
IRRBB management framewaork is to ensure that the Group is not taking excessive IRRBB expasures which can pose a
significant threat to the Group’s earnings and capital adequacy.

In accordance with the Group’s corporate governance principles, the Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing
the IRRBB in the Group. RC under the Board provides an independent oversight and guidance to the Board on IRRBB
issues. Under leadership of CE, EXCO is a senior management committee for formulating and recommending the Board
and RC to approve the IRRBB risk management principles, policies and frameworks.

As authorised by EXCO, ALCO is the primary committee in managing the IRRBB profile in the Group. Under the
guidance of ALCO, Treasury is primary responsible for managing overall IRRBB exposures for the Group on a day-to-
day basis. RMD coordinates with Treasury and other business units to help ensure a consistent and comprehensive
framework for managing IRRBB exposures across the Group. Finance is responsible for preparation and submission of
the regulatory reports. |AD is responsible for testing the effectiveness of the IRRBB risk management framework and
system.

The Group measures and monitors [RRBB exposures from both the earnings and economic value perspective with two
key risk control metrics, namely the change in the economic value of equity {*AEVE”) and the change in net interest
income {“ANII”). The two metrics are calculated in accordance with the standardised framework as set out in the
HKMA SPM IR-1. The risk limits and triggers are setup based on these two measurement metrics.

To supplement with EVE decline and NIl sensitivity, the Group has setup interest rate sensitivity limits using the
Present Value of a Basis Point ("PVBP”}. The PVBP measures the sensitivity of the net present value of banking book
towards movements of interest rate by one basis point. The key IRRBB risk metrics are reported to different
committees such as ALCO and RC on a periodic basis. For AEVE and ANIl monitoring, they are calculated on a monthly
basis. For PVBP measurement, it is calculated and monitored on a daily basis.

To hedge the IRRBB exposures, actions like market operations or balance sheet restructuring could be potential risk
mitigations and when necessary, the mitigations will be discussed in ALCO with advice from various relevant units like

RMD and Treasury for endorsement.

The Group adopts stress-testing techniques to regularly assess the vulnerability to losses due to interest rate change
in the prescribed standard interest rate stress scenarios defined in the MA’s SPM IR-1.

The application of a parallel shift in market interest rates of 100 basis points {2023: 100 basis points) increase or
decrease to these positions, would result in a net gain or lass of approximately HK$2,415,000 (2023: HK$3,942,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Fair value estimation

The following table present the carrying value of the Bank’s financial assets recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis, classified according to the fair value hierarchy.

Level 2 Total

At 31 December 2024 HKS'000 HKS'000
Financial investments measured at FYOCI

- Debt securities 3,807,499 3,807,499

Total 3,807,499 3,807,499

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (e.g. publicly traded equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Bank is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (e.g. over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

For financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at fair value on the financial statements, the Bank has

ascertained that their fair values were the reasonable approximation of the carrying amounts at year end due to short-
term nature.
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OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational Risk refers to the loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Operational risk event categories as defined by Basel Capital Standards: internal fraud; external fraud;
employment practices and workplace safety; clients, products and business practices; business disruption and system
failure; damage to physical assets; and execution, delivery and process management.

The Group establishes an Operational Risk Management Policy to provide minimum standards over the risk
identification, risk measurement, risk monitoring, and risk reporting. It defines the mechanism in respect of the various
tools for Operational Risk Management. It also clarifies and reinforces the need for clear ownership and accountability
for ail processes across the Group.

[ addition, the Group establishes Operational Risk Team within RMD as the independent corporate operational risk
management function (i.e. second LOD) to assist the Board and senior management in meeting their responsibility for
understanding and managing operational risk. Such team is responsible for designing relevant risk policies and defining
relevant tools, assessment matrix and methodology and mechanism and presenting the latest Operational Risk
exposure to the Head of RMD and relevant risk management committees to facilitate the management team’s
oversight of the Group’s Operational Risk profile.

Each new product/service initiative and third party service arrangement (including outsourcing proposal) is subject to
a risk review and governance process, where material risks are identified and assessed by Business unit (i.e. first LOD),
and reviewed and challenged by relevant second LODs independent to the risk-taking unit proposing the product,
service or third party service arrangement. Subsequent changes on the existing products, services and third party
service (including outsourcing) arrangements are also subject to a similar process.

Technelogy risk is managed through an enterprise technology risk management approach. This cavers risk governance,
identification, analysing, responding, monitoring and reporting, and is supported by a set of technology policies and
standards, control processes and risk mitigation programmes. These policies and standards are established to manage
and address technology and cyber security related risk.

The Group enhances its Operational Risk Management Policy to continually improve its operational resilience ahility
to identify and protect itself from threats and potential failures, respond and adapt to, as well as recover and learn
from disruptive events. Business Continuity Management Policy is updated as well to set out the strategic approach
of the Group to business continuity management, covering business impact assessments, recovery strategy, its related
governance structure, roles and responsibilities of various parties. It refers to the advance planning and preparations
which are necessary to identify the impact of potential losses arising from an emergency or a disaster, formulate and
implement viable recovery strategies and to develop recovery plans which ensure continuity of the Group’s service.

[n connection with the management of Third Party Risk, the Group estahlished relevant measure and control to outline
the standard of risk assessment to avoid any undue additional operational risk when relying on a Third Party for the
performance of an operational function or activity, particularly if process or service is critical to the Bank. The Third
Party Risk Management Policy defines the methods by which the Group manages third party risks. It is to ensure the
level security of the Bank's information and information assets are not being lower when sharing information with
such third parties or by the introduction of third party products or services into the Bank environment. Such policy
describes what processes must be in place before information asset can be released to the third party arrangement,
and the mechanism for developing and maintaining contractual agreements with such third parties regarding their
responsibilities on protecting Bank's information assets.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

For all financial instruments not measured at fair value, the carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable
approximation of fair value due to the short term nature of these assets and liabilities.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group actively manages its consolidated capital position based upon, among other things, business opportunities,
risks, capital availability and rates of return together with internal capital policies, regulatory requirements and rating
agency guidelines and, therefore, in the future may expand or contract its capital base to address the changing needs
of its businesses.

The Group also aims to adequately capitalise at a Jegal entity level whilst safeguarding that entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern and ensuring that it meets all regulatory capital requirements, so that it can continue to provide
returns for our shareholders.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure as described above, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid, return capital to shareholder, issue new shares, issue subordinated debt or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Bank is regulated by the HKMA and as such is subject to minimum capital requirements. The Bank’s capital is
monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure compliance with these requirements. At a minimum, the Bank must ensure
that capital is greater than the capital requirement covering credit, market and operational risk,

The Bank complied with all of its regulatory capital requirements during the current and prior year.

The Bank manages the following items as capital:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share capital 2,800,001 2,800,001
Accumulated losses {2,073,557) (1,798,281)
Financial assets at FVOC| reserve (362) -
Share based payment reserve 22,100 -
Exchange reserve {1,119) (845)
747,063 1,000,875

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Bank. Key management personnel include the executive-level managers and
directors of the Bank. Their remunerations are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HKS'000

Salaries, bonuses and short-term employee benefits 49,021 59,981
Share-based payments 20,497 -
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Transactions with related parties
Term deposit

The Bank had the following transactions with entities related to the Bank during the year. These transactions were
made on terms equivalent to normal commercial terms.

2024 2023
Interest Balance Interest Balance
HKS’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$'000
Deposits from a related party (note 5) 726 - 452 16,698

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

2024 2023
HKS' 000 HKS$'000
Prepaid expense - 573
Total - 573
Accruals and other payables
Amount due to fellow subsidiaries 17,174 2,503
Total 17,174 2,503
Infrastructure services and other fees
IT services paid 1o a fellow subsidiary 35,409 24,711
Total 35,409 24,711

Property, plant and equipment and intangible asset purchases

The following property, plant and equipment and intangible assets were purchased from related parties:

2024 2023
HKS$'000 HKS'000

Property, plant and equipment
Tencent cloud infrastructure - 584
Total - 584

Share-based payment

During the year, some employees were granted listed shares by Tencent Holdings. The fair value of the shares,
amounting to HK$22,100,000 (2023: nil}, was based on the fair value of the listed share of Tencent Holdings at the
grant date. The shares are fully vested upon issuance and a portion of the shares will be deferred according to the
Remuneration Policy of the Bank.
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE BANK

{a) Statement of financial position
2024 2023

HKS'000 HK$'000
ASSETS
Balances with central bank 236,024 99,520
Placements with and advances to banks 2,172,709 1,721,625
Investments in debt securities at amortised cost 753,695 3,104,353
Financial investments measured at FVOC| 3,807,499 -
Loans and advances 987,224 660,074
Prepaid expenses 11,974 10,903
Other deposits and receivables 18,211 11,780
Investment in subsidiary 11,685 11,685
Right-of-use assets 5,469 14,645
Property, plant and equipment 3,568 23,306
Intangible assets 23,060 22,796
TOTAL ASSETS 8,031,118 5,680,687
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 6,966,060 4,555,308
Deposits from a related party - 16,698
Accruals and other payables 306,923 87,858
Lease liabilities 5,423 16,007
TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,278,406 4,675,871
EQUITY
Share capital 2,800,001 2,800,001
Accumulated losses (2,069,027) (1,795,185)
Financial assets at FVOCI reserve . (362) -
Share based payment reserve 22,100 -
Equity attributable to owners of the bank 752,712 1,004,816
TOTAL EQUITY 752,712 1,004,816
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 8,031,118 5,680,687

The statement of financial position of the Bank was approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on
25 April 2025:

Signed on behalf of the Board

PU, HAI TAOD SHU, JARED
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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33.

34.

35.

36.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE BANK

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement of the bank
Accumulated Financial assets at Share based
losses FVOCI reserve payment reserve
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
At 1 January 2023 (1,387,599} - -
Loss for the year {407,586) - -
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 {1,795,185} - -
Loss for the year (273,842) - -
Other comprehensive income - (362) -
Share based payment - - 22,100
At 31 December 2024 (2,069,027) (362) 22,100

Dividends

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,

Subsequent event

Share capital increased HK$800,000,000 after the reporting period. This funding is to support the business growth of

the Group.

Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 25 April 2025,
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Year ended 31 December 2024

CLIMATE CHANGE RELATED DISCLOSURE

Response to Climate Change

The Bank provides the following climate-related information, covering Governance, Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics
and Targets in response to climate change, by making reference to the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

Governance

Governance Structure

The Board of Directors {“the Board”) is responsible for exercising oversight and decision-making authority, and ensure
that any climate-related strategic and risk decisions are aligned with the Bank’s palicy and the applicable laws and
regulations.

RC is responsible for monitoring climate-related issues and deliberating proposed actions far the Board's decision
making.

RMC is a management-level committee, chaired by Head of Risk Management, is responsible for managing key risks,
including additional risk exposure arising from the climate change. It will continue monitoring market developments
and report to the Board and RC which will determine whether adjustments to the roles and responsibilities of these
governance committees are necessary in order to address these developments.

Given the Bank's business scale, the risk exposure is considered to be minimal in the near term. The current governance
structure is considered sufficient to cover management of climate-related risks and opportunities.

Roles and Responsibilities of Three Lines of Defence

Since climate-related risk impacts across the whole risk inventory, there is no change on the adoption of existing Three
Lines of Defence model to enable the Bank to effectively manage climate-related risks and opportunities, and therefore
no incremental roles and responsibilities have been created.

QOversight and Monitoring

RMC will be the main governance committee driving the integration of climate considerations into the Enterprise Risk
Management Framework. Climate change is one of the many different topics that RMC will be discussed and updated
at the regular RMC meetings. Any decisions and/or actions agreed will be reported to the Board and RC where
appropriate for further discussion or decision making.

The Bank has adequate escalation protocols embedded within various risk management policies. Trigger events relating
to climate risks requiring immediate attention of the relevant governance committees can be effectively escalated in
accordance with these pre-existing policies.

Capacity and Remuneration

62

Training on climate-related risks and opportunities has been provided/will be regularly provided to those charged with
governance, senior management and staff personnel to develop and strengthen their skills and abilities for the Bank to
survive, adapt, and thrive in a fast-changing world,

The Bank current remuneration policy maintains a balanced scorecard {e.g. adhering to the Bank’s culture and conduct)
approach which is aligned with the Bank's strategy for the management of climate-related risks and opportunities.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)

CLIMATE CHANGE RELATED DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

Strategy

The Board and senior management are keenly aware of the potential impacts of climate change on the Bank’s future business
developments, particularly the expansion into corporate lending, the Bank therefore will continue to broaden and strengthen
its efforts to identify climate-related risks and opportunities. Once identified, the Bank then assesses how the risks can be
better managed, reduced or mitigated in line with its risk management framework, and incorporate climate- related
considerations, both opportunities and risks, into the future strategy planning and enhancements to the Enterprise Risk
Management Framework where considered appropriate.

The Bank has performed materiality assessment of the impact from climate changes on the traditional banking risks that the
Bank has been managing. The outcome reveals that climate-related risk has very minimal impact to the Bank’s business
operations and exposures at the current stage. As such, the existing risk management framework, policies and procedures are
adequate to address any potential risks involved in the near term.

Summary of key climate-related risks identified by the Bank:

Risk type Climate related risk
Strategic risk The Bank may |ose its competitiveness and market standing due to the following:
- fail to develop necessary risk management capabilities to capture new business

opportunities arising from climate change

- fail to appropriately incorporate impacts associated with climate change into its risk
management framework, leading to inappropriate pricing or risk appetite

- fail to at least stay on par with peer banks in terms of latest practices or product offering,
leading to other challenges (e.g. talent or customer retention; reputational implications)

Reputational risk The Bank’s reputation will be adversely affected if:
. it is unable to follow industry and regulatory actions to implement climate risk measures
- it is identified to have major business relationship with corporates that are identified by

media or regulators as posing significant Impact on climate or inconsistent with the Bank’s
strategy/climate-related commitments

- it is identified having greenwashing activities
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION {UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)

CLIMATE CHANG

Strategy (Continued)

Risk type

E RELATED DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

Climate related risk -

Credit risk

Climate risk drivers can impact household, corporate, or sovereign income and/or wealth. Physical
and transition risk drivers increase the Bank’s credit risk as soon as they have a negative effect on a
borrower’s ability to repay and to service debt {the income effect) or on the Bank’s ability to fully
recover the value of a loan in the event of default because the value of any pledged collateral or
recoverable value has been reduced (the wealth effect). This credit risk impact takes many different
forms.

Physical risk drivers mainly impact the Bank's credit risk indirectly through its counterparties. The
physical capital (housing, vehicle, inventory, property, equipment or infrastructure of households,
corporates and sovereigns) can be damaged or destroyed by physical hazards. This damage reduces
the value of assets and, consequently, a counterparty’s wealth. Physical risk drivers can also
negatively impact cash flows of the affected entities as damaged physical capital, such as impaired
rental properties and factories, will generate less income.

Transition risk - While governments, consumers, and investors are becoming more c¢ognisant of
transition risk, the Bank has not yet suffered any losses arising from transitioning away from a carbaon-
intensive economy. Whether these losses will materialise in the future, and to what degree, will be
determined by the path of carbon emissions over the coming decades. However, as market
sentiments and regulations evolve, it may impact certain industries/economic sectors or
counterparties Imminently, Access to finance may dry up, put pressure on counterparty’s liguidity
and manifest into credit events.

Market risk

Climate risk drivers can have a significant impact on the value of financial assets. Specifically, physical
and transition risks can alter or reveal new information about future economic conditions or the value
of real or financial assets, resulting in downward price shocks and an increase in market volatility in
traded assets. Climate risk could also lead to a breakdown in correlations between assets, reducing
the effectiveness of hedges and challenging the Bank’s ability to actively manage its risks. However,
where climate risk is already priced in, the potential for unexpected price movements may be
reduced.

FX and interest rate risks are remotely related to climate risk in most major currencies of the
developed countries. Extreme climate events with catastrophic economic impact or disruption of
financial activities may cause short term fluctuation in FX and interest rates. Equity and credit spread
risk impacts are similar to those assessed for credit risk of the issuer or counterparties.

Liquidity risk

Climate risk drivers may impact the Bank’s liquidity risk directly, through its ability to raise funds or
liguidate assets, or indirectly through customers’ demands for liquidity. There is some evidence that
natural disasters can lead to liquidity risk as a bank may not hold sufficient liquidity buffer to meet
the drawdown needs of counterparties in the event of natural disasters. For instance, this occurred
during the Great East Japan Earthquake in March 2011, These acute catastrophic events may also
have an impact on the deposit base if withdrawals by customers and counterparties occur.

Marketable securities held that are issued by issuers identified by media or regulators as posing
significant impact on climate may encounter deeper discount to liquidate them in the market.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)

CLIMATE CHANGE RELATED DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

Strategy (Continued)
Risk type Climate related risk
Operational risk The Bank may incur financial loss arising from disruption of services or destruction of its own

premises, properties and assets due to climate events. Outsourced activities may also be impacted
by climate risks (i.e. third party dependencies). For instance, data center and etc.

Disruption on the Bank's supply chain may also be impacted by climate events although the extent
may not be significant given financial services organisation has less complex supply value chain.

Legal and The Bank may face litigation for violating any climate related [aws and regulations if it fails to

compliance risk implement measures and controls to ensure their compliance. There may be potential non-
compliance and litigation risks associated with greenwashing activities; inaccurate disclosures and
etc.

Risk Management
Risk Appetite

- The Bank’s lending portfolio is solely to retail customers and other counterparty exposures mostly with financial
institutions and governments, without exposures to certain high emitting sectors. It was concluded that the Bank’s
exposure to climate-related risk is considered to be low and therefore the overall risk appetite statement remains
appropriate.

- As the Bank’s business strategy and market and regulatory landscape continue to evolve, the risk profile of the Bank
may change. The Board and senior management will assess the implications on the Bank’s risk appetite and propose
adjustments where appropriate.

Climate Risk Assessment

. Climate-related risk can be characterised as a source of risk which can manifest itself into the traditional types of risks
that the Bank is managing day-to-day, namely, strategic risk, reputational risk, credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk, legal and compliance risk. The Bank has assessed the likelihood and magnitude of the climate change
impact (both physical and transition risks) on these risk types by considering different factors, including but not limited
to the following. The assessment is performed on an ongoing basis which will be refreshed as least annually or upon

triggers.
. nature and materiality of the exposures/assets that the Bank has
. time horizon
. size and operating model of the Bank (e.g. number of physical locations; types of outsourced/offshored activities)

Climate Risk Management Policies

. The assessment conciudes that climate-related risk has minimal impact to the Bank’s exposures and own operations
at this stage, The Bank’s existing risk management framework, policies and procedures are adequate to address any
potential risks involved. However, the Bank will continue monitor and assess the risk exposure as its business,
operations and market & regulatory landscape evolve.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)

CLIMATE CHANGE RELATED DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

Strategy (Continued)
Metrics and Targets

Given the potential impact of climate change on the Bank’s business operations, investments and counterparty exposures is
considered to be immaterial at the moment, establishing specific metrics or targets {e.g. GHG reduction targets; exposures to
high emitting sectors and etc.} for climate risk management purposes is not considered relevant and practical at this stage.

The Bank is in the process of researching market opportunities regarding to the green and sustainable financing in accordance
with the Bank’s strategy framework. The Board and senior management will consider relevant metrics/targets in connection
with climate change where appropriate and will assess implications on resources, system, processes and internal controls
adjustments to support such metrics and targets.

66 FUSION BANK LIMITED



	Fusion Bank Signed FS FY24.pdf
	SKM_C650i25043019160.pdf
	Fusion Bank Signed FS FY24

